IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

THE ESTATE (THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATRIX IDA CAMPBELL) AND THE WRONGFUL DEATH AND SURVIVAL BENEFICIARIES OF JOHN EARL SYKES, IDA CAMPBELL, JEFFIE EZELL, DONNIE DRAINE, SAMMIE JOE SYKES, RICKY WAYNE SYKES, BRENDA FAY HARDWICK, TERRY SYKES, AND JAMES E. SYKES

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

NO.: 2010-CA-00654

CALHOUN HEALTH SERVICES

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE DEFERENTIAL STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR THE TRIAL JUDGE'S FINDINGS IS GROUNDS TO AFFIRM THE RULING THAT THERE WERE NO DEVIATIONS FROM THE STANDARD OF CARE WHERE DEVIATIONS ARE ESTABLISHED BY SIMPLY COMPARING THE CARE DOCUMENTED BY THE HOSPITAL TO THE ADMITTED STANDARDS FOR THAT CARE
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG AND CLEARLY ERRONEOUS IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THERE WAS A VIOLATION OF THE REQUIREMENT THAT A BASIC TRIAGE BE PERFORMED FOR EVERY PATIENT
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE PRESENTATION OF JOHN SYKES WAS SO ATYPICAL THAT THE FAILURE TO INITIATE ACLS PROTOCOL CAN BE EXCUSED WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG AND LACKED SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT
- IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO FIND THAT THE "IMPERFECT" CARE WAS NOT SUBSTANDARD BECAUSE THE EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT WAS BUSY WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG AND LACKS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT
- V. WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE'S RULING THAT THERE WAS NO INJURY CAUSED BY DEVIATIONS FROM THE STANDARD OF CARE LACKS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT, IS MANIFESTLY WRONG AND IS ERRONEOUSLY BASED ON THE APPLICATION OF AN INCORRECT LEGAL STANDARD

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

I. Statement of the Case

This is a medical malpractice suit asserted by The Estate (Through the Administratrix Ida Campbell) and The Wrongful Death and Survival Beneficiaries of John Earl Sykes against Calhoun Health Services (sometimes hereinafter referred to as "Calhoun") pursuant to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, M.C.A. § 11-46-1 et seq.

The action contends that Mr. Sykes presented to the emergency department of Calhoun Health Services on January 1, 2007 with complaints of chest pain, nausea and vomiting. The suit asserts the substandard care on the part of Calhoun and its employees, for which it is vicariously liable. The suit asserts that Calhoun failed to perform a timely and proper assessment of a chest pain patient, failed to timely perform tests to determine whether the patient was suffering a cardiac event and failed to provide prompt and sufficient treatment to a patient suffering a cardiac event. It is alleged that as a result of this substandard care, John Earl Sykes expired. (Record, pp. 15-20).

The trial of this matter commenced on February 22, 2010 before the Honorable Andrew Howorth, and following post-trial briefing, a final judgment in favor of defendant was entered on March 24, 2010. (Tr. p. 248-259). Plaintiffs timely appealed the Trial Court's ruling and here seek reversal.

II. Statement of the Facts

The policies and procedures of Calhoun Health Services, which Nurse Joan Marshall admitted constituted the standard of care, 1 requires a triage to be conducted for every patient entering the Emergency Department by a registered nurse. (Record Ex. "E," p. 49). Although certain portions of the triage can be delegated to non-registered nursing personnel, "the targeted assessment of the chief complaint" must be performed by a registered nurse according to the policies and procedures of Calhoun Health Services. The registered nurse is also responsible for determining the patient's acuity level. (Record Ex. "E," p. 49). The triage is to be conducted using a triage form, which has checklists to make sure the right guestions are asked. (Tr. p. 223, line 2-10). As admitted by the nurse who filled out the form in the case of Mr. Sykes, the form is to be filled out contemporaneously with the triage evaluation of the patient. (Tr. p. 217, line 4-18). This documented, prompt triage evaluation by a qualified registered nurse which must be done for any patient – even one with a nonserious condition – did not happen in the case of John Sykes, even though he came to Calhoun on New Years Day of 2007 for evaluation of cardiac discomfort, a life-threatening potential medical emergency.

Nurse Joan Marshall is the nurse who signed the triage form and was responsible to perform the triage on Mr. Sykes. (Tr. p. 217, line 4-18; Record Ex. "A," p. 5). Even though it is not apparent from the face of the document, Nurse Marshall did not fill the triage sheet out until after the patient was dead. On a "chest pain complaints" form, she documented vital

¹(Tr. p. 219, line 8-15).

signs of: a hypertensive blood pressure of 174/90, pulse of 77 and a pain level of 1 to 2 out of 5. She documented "chest sore - nausea and vomiting" and indicated that she believed that the patient vomited on one occasion. (Record Ex. "A" p. 5). As she admitted in her testimony, she never talked to the patient and never performed a triage of the patient, and she conceded that simply looking at the patient is not a triage or an assessment. (Tr. p. 225, line 26-29; Tr. p. 226, line 1-13). Thus, she initially classified the patient as non-urgent (and hence did not initiate ACLS protocol) without ever actually examining or questioning the patient herself. (Tr. p. 220, line 23-26).

Thus, there was thus no triage performed on John Sykes as contemplated by the Calhoun Health Services policies and procedures, even though he complained of a problem with his chest. Ms. Marshall made no documentation on the triage sheet that the emergency department had been too busy to perform the protocol of Advanced Cardiac Life Support for acute coronary syndromes (ACLS protocol) for the patient. (Record Ex. "A," p. 5). As stated above, she did not initiate ACLS protocol because she believed he was non-urgent, even though standard triage to confirm this non-urgency had not been performed.

There was testimony of questioning of the patient by Nurse Debbie Stroup-Russell, but as she admitted in her testimony, this occurred only shortly before the patient collapsed, and this information was not transmitted to Nurse Marshall, who had the responsibility to triage the patient. (Tr. p. 34, line 22-29; Tr. p. 345, line 1-4; Tr. p. 345, line 28-29; Tr. p. 346, line 1-5). Nurse Russell admitted that her questioning did not constitute a triage. (Tr. p. 345, line 23-25).

This erroneous classification of the patient's acuity was the product of what the testimony established occurred in lieu of a proper triage. The questioning of the patient by Toby Lafayette, who lacked proper qualifications as a non-ACLS certified Basic EMT, did not constitute a proper triage as he admitted in his testimony. (Tr. p. 158, line 5-28). He simply "overheard" a chest complaint, and for the first time in his career, decided to undertake to question the patient.²

As a result of the failure to perform a proper triage, there was considerable confusion as to the actual nature of the complaints made by the patient on presentation. Contrary to Nurse Marshall's testimony, Mr. Lafayette indicated that he told Nurse Marshall that the patient had chest soreness and not "heart racing." He testified that he was not attempting a triage and was simply trying to convey the chief complaint to her. (Tr. p. 158, line 5-28). Nurse Marshall recalled only that Mr. Lafayette gave her a "post-it note" with vital signs and a chief complaint of "heart racing." (Tr. p. 221, line 5-25). Ms. Marshall's original decision to triage the patient as a non-urgent patient, the lowest priority, was made on the basis of hearing on that the patient had "heart racing," which she believed conflicted with the vital signs. She was initially unaware that the patient had chest soreness. (Tr. p. 229, line 15-17). Thus, she made the critical decision not to initiate ACLS protocol on the basis of incomplete and inaccurate information which was the result of the failure to properly triage the patient.

²Toby Lafayette testified that he was never trained in hospital triage, was not familiar with Calhoun's triage protocols and not authorized to document on triage forms. He had never evaluated a patient inside a hospital or even worked in a hospital setting at any time. (Tr. p. 150, line 2-29; Tr. p. 151, line 1-24).

As a result of the failure to properly perform a triage and the resulting miscommunications between Mr. Lafayette and Ms. Marshall, the ACLS protocol for workup and treatment for acute coronary syndrome did not occur.

There was abundant evidence that there was more than enough information suggestive of chest discomfort to initiate ACLS protocol. The autopsy records indicate in two separate sections that the patient had been complaining of "chest pain" at Calhoun Health Services. (See narrative prepared by Jerry Moore, Record Ex. "B," p. 37; see History of Steven Haynie, M.D., Record Ex. "B," p. 35). The testimony of the defense experts that the patient did not explicitly state that he had chest pain, tightness, squeezing or other indications of acute coronary syndrome is not meaningful, given that without a properly conducted triage, it cannot be reliably determined that Mr. Sykes would not have related those symptoms had he been properly triaged on January 1, 2007. The testimony of plaintiffs' expert, Dr. Neal Shadoff, a cardiologist, and Dr. Andrew Perron, an emergency medicine physician, established that for a 41 year old African American male, any kind of complaint of chest discomfort is sufficient to initiate ACLS protocol. (eg., testimony of Dr. Perron, Tr. p. 37, line 3-27).

The standard of care applicable to Calhoun Health Services, which was admitted by Nurse Joan Marshall to be a national standard of care which follow ACLS Guidelines, required an EKG to be performed within 10 minutes of the patient's arrival with the administration of morphine, oxygen, nitrates and aspirin. (Tr. p. 232, line 4-13; Tr. p. 240,

line 27-29; Tr. p. 241, line 1-5). None of these interventions, however, were performed in the case of John Sykes on January 1, 2007.

Dr. Frederick Carlton, a defense expert, admitted that under ordinary circumstances, the failure to initiate a proper triage of Mr. Sykes complaints was contrary to "standard practice." He indicated that he did not know about "standard of care." (Tr. p. 386, line 9-22). Dr. Carlton's testimony indicates that the only reason he could say that the overall circumstances of the case conformed to the standard of care was on the basis of a "mass casualty situation." (Tr. p. 387, line 9-20). As set forth previously, however, Nurse Marshall did not attribute the decision not to initiate ACLS protocol to the busyness of the Emergency Department.

Had the patient been treated in accordance with the standard of care, it is likely that the dysrhythmia which became fatal would have been prevented by therapy to reduce ischemia, such as aspirin, oxygen and nitrates. Monitoring with a cardiac monitor would have provided an opportunity to correct rhythm disturbances before ventricular fibrillation developed, and would have allowed prompt defibrillation. (eg., testimony of Dr. Shadoff, Tr. p. 118, line14-29; Tr. p. 119, line 1-19). This is true regardless of whether the

dysrhythmia was due to ischemia and infarction, ischemia alone or any other cause.³ There would not have been a delay between the patient's dysrhythmia and defibrillation (See Record Ex. "A," p. 12, indicating the patient collapsed at 1855 and was not defibrillated until 1900), but the patient likely would not have reached the point that defibrillation of a fatal arrhythmia was necessary if he had been given the ACLS protocol within 10 minutes of arriving at Calhoun as required by the standard of care. Thus, the deviations from the standard of care directly caused the patient's death.

³As admitted by Dr. Carlton, the defense emergency medicine expert, the acute coronary syndrome includes unstable angina. Unstable angina is acute chest discomfort from ischemia which has not reached the level of infarction. The concept of acute coronary syndrome was originated in part in recognition that sudden cardiac death from a dysrhythmia can occur with mere coronary ischemia in the absence of infarction. One of the goals of ACLS protocol is to prevent sudden cardiac death from dysrhythmia which can result from an acute coronary syndrome, regardless of whether the subtype of the syndrome involves infarction (ST or non-ST elevated MI) or ischemia without infarction (unstable angina). (Tr. p. 378, line 20-29; Tr. p. 379, line 1-29; Tr. p. 380, line 1-25).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On January 1, 2007, John Earl Sykes presented to the emergency department of Calhoun Health Services with complaints of chest discomfort, nausea and vomiting. The patient's complaints were recorded on an Emergency Nursing Record "Chest Pain Complaints" form which indicated that the patient was triaged at 1750 and classified as a non-urgent case. In sharp deviation from the standard of care as well as Calhoun's policies and procedures, however, no such triage was actually performed. The documented triage was rather performed after the fact and after the patient had died. Even though a targeted assessment of any chief complaint – much less one with life threatening implications as in the case of chest discomfort – must be performed by a registered nurse, this did not occur with John Sykes.

Instead of the prompt, contemporaneously documented triage by a qualified registered nurse, what happened in the Calhoun Emergency Department on January 1, 2007 falls so far short of what should be expected from a provider of emergency services that the Trial Court's determination that the care was merely "imperfect" should not stand. An EMT Basic who "overheard" chest complaints undertook to ask questions of the patient. He passed her a "sticky note," an *ad hoc* process which resulted in Nurse Marshall not learning that the patient had chest "soreness," a form of discomfort for which ACLS protocol requires immediate action in a 41 year old African American male smoker. The result of this weak substitute for triage was that the staff was unable to appreciate more cardiac symptoms only about an hour before John Sykes' cardiac condition took his life. It was unreasonable for the

Trial Judge to find that his complaints were "atypical" given the lack of proper assessment before the patient was unresponsive. Without a proper triage assessment to get to the bottom of the true nature of the patient's complaints, there can be no substantial evidence that the complaints were in fact "atypical." This ruling which gives the defense the benefit of doubts directly created by a substantial deviation from the standard of care is manifestly wrong. Furthermore, ACLS protocol is not reserved for patients who definitely have "classic" symptoms of heart attack; a "wide net" must be cast to include in the workup those that merely have a reasonable chance of having this potentially devastating medical emergency. This is why the protocols use the term chest "discomfort" rather than "chest pain," and the "soreness" voiced by the patient rendered it completely improper to leave this man for more than an hour without any meaningful assessment.

As a result of the failure to properly perform triage, the patient's medical emergency went unrecognized, and he was not given standard treatment which was well within the capabilities of Calhoun Health Services. The patient was not provided the immediate care, physician evaluation and treatment which his condition required. He was not given any care at all for the condition he sought care for, and at 1859 on January 1, 2007, the patient collapsed in the waiting room. This was more than an hour after John Sykes arrived complaining of chest discomfort. The patient was then moved to a room and a "Code Blue" was called. The initial findings at the time the code was called included no respirations, a weak pulse and ventricular fibrillation. Resuscitative efforts were initiated. Since Mr. Sykes was not on any kind of monitor/defibrillator which he would have been on if standard triage

and chest discomfort protocol had been initiated, there was approximately a five minute delay in defibrillation. Resuscitative efforts were unsuccessful and the patient's death was called at 1932.

Due to the substandard care of Calhoun Health Services and its employees, for which it is vicariously liable, in failing to perform a timely and proper assessment of a chest pain patient, in failing to timely perform tests to determine whether the patient was suffering a cardiac event and in failing to provide prompt and sufficient treatment to a patient suffering a cardiac event, John Earl Sykes expired.

The Trial Court committed clear error additionally by finding no medical causation on the basis of the mere possibility that the patient may not have been having a frank myocardial infarction. In addition to applying the incorrect burden of proof, the entire concept of an acute coronary syndrome is testament to the fact that the ACLS protocol can successfully treat and prevent death in cardiac conditions other than the full myocardial infarction envisioned by the Trial Court. Whether or not the patient was infarcting simply does not fully or directly answer the question as to whether proper care would have been lifesaving. Moreover, the Trial Court improperly considered the key causation issue as one involving the question of whether or not quicker defibrillation at the time the patient suffered ventricular fibrillation would have altered the outcome, as opposed to addressing the proper caustion question presented. The Court did not address the question of whether or not the immediate institution of ACLS protocol, which includes not only cardiac monitoring but also

the administration of morphine, oxygen, nitrates, aspirin would have been life-saving if started well before the ventricular fibrillation developed.

In sum, the ruling that there were no deviations from the standard of care which caused the death of John Earl Sykes was clearly wrong, manifestly erroneous and lacking in substantial evidentiary support.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEFERENTIAL STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR THE TRIAL JUDGE'S FINDINGS IS NOT GROUNDS TO AFFIRM THE RULING THAT THERE WERE NO DEVIATIONS FROM THE STANDARD OF CARE WHERE DEVIATIONS ARE ESTABLISHED BY SIMPLY COMPARING THE CARE DOCUMENTED BY THE HOSPITAL TO THE ADMITTED STANDARDS FOR THAT CARE

The standard of appellate review applicable to a ruling from a circuit court judge sitting without a jury pursuant to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act has often been stated by this Court. See, eg, *City of Jackson v. Internal Engine Parts Group, Inc.*, 903 So.2d 60, (Miss. 2005). This Court has stated that "a circuit court judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to his findings as a chancellor, and his findings are safe on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible and reasonable evidence (citations omitted). This Court will not disturb those findings unless they are "manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *City of Jackson v. Perry*, 764 So.2d 373 (Miss. 2000). Although the general standard of review is one of significant and perhaps even great deference to the trial judge, Mississippi law nevertheless embraces true appellate review of factual determinations.

This is a medical malpractice case in which there was little debate in defining the standards of care. According to the nurse who was supposed to be performing the triage, the standard of care requires compliance with the Calhoun policies and procedures. It simply cannot be questioned that there was no triage which occurred in this case in conformance with the policies and procedures and the standard of care. Comparing the agreed upon

standards of care or "practice" to the factual events which are admitted to have happened involves no credibility determinations. When a trial judge renders a judgment which is inescapably wrong and which simply overlooks substantial deviations from the applicable standard of care, it is this Court's duty to reverse.

II. THE TRIAL COURT WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG AND CLEARLY ERRONEOUS IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO VIOLATION OF THE REQUIREMENT THAT A BASIC TRIAGE BE PERFORMED FOR EVERY PATIENT

This is a case in which John Sykes, a 41-year-old African American male with a history of smoking, developed symptoms of discomfort in his chest and sought evaluation and treatment at Calhoun Health Services' Emergency Department. He remained in the Emergency Department's waiting room, without receiving the standard Calhoun Health Services triage within a reasonable period of time. An hour and nine minutes after arriving at Calhoun, he fell out and then died from what the Trial Court found to be a cardiac event.

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