IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-00654

THE ESTATE (THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATRIX IDA CAMPBELL) AND THE WRONGFUL DEATH AND SURVIVAL BENEFICIARIES OF JOHN EARL SYKES, IDA CAMPBELL, JEFFIE EZELL, DONNIE DRAINE, SAMMIE JOE SYKES, RICKY WAYNE SYKES, BRENDA FAY HARDWICK, TERRY SYKES, AND JAMES E. SYKES

APPELLANTS ·

V.

CALHOUN HEALTH SERVICES

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF CALHOUN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

JOHN G. WHEELER, MB# MITCHELL, MCNUTT & SAMS, P.A. 105 SOUTH FRONT STREET Post Office Box 7120 Tupelo, MS 38802-7120 (662) 842-3871 Attorney for Appellee

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-00654

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

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

The estate of John Earl Sykes, through administratrix Ida siblings of John Campbell, together with Earl Svkes (collectively referred to herein as "Campbell") filed suit in the Circuit Court of Calhoun County against Calhoun Health Services ("CHS") under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act and the wrongful death statute, alleging that medical negligence on the part of one or more CHS employees was a proximate cause of the death of Mr. Sykes. Following a bench trial, the trial court rendered findings of fact and conclusions of law and entered a judgment in favor of CHS. (CP Vol. II, 248-59.)1 Campbell appeals from that judgment.

Statement of Facts

CHS is a county-owned hospital in Calhoun County. In January, 2007, CHS had a 24-hour emergency department with four available patient beds. The department was usually staffed by one emergency medicine physician and one or two nurses depending on the time of day. The department did not have an available cardiologist on the medical staff at CHS for consultation, and CHS provided no specialized cardiology services, such as

¹ Citations to the record are as follows: "CP" denotes the court's papers; "Tr." denotes pages of the trial transcript; specific documents in the multi-document trial exhibit no. 1 are referenced by page number within the exhibit.

coronary catheterization, angioplasty, stenting, or bypass grafting. (Tr. 245.)

On January 1, 2007, John Earl Sykes ("Sykes") presented to emergency department at approximately 5:50 the According to the CHS patient log, Mr. Sykes told the emergency department clerk that he was experiencing "heart racing." (Exhibit 1 pp. 46-47.) The emergency department was staffed by a single physician and two registered nurses. (Tr. 215-16.) When Sykes arrived, all medical personnel were busy providing care for multiple patients with potential life-threatening illnesses or injuries, including a patient with head trauma, a patient with diminished oxygen saturation levels, a patient with chest pain and shortness of breath, and a patient with acute abdominal pain. (Tr. 246-47.) At approximately 6:00 p.m., Toby Lafayette, an emergency medical technician who was assisting with the triage of waiting patients in the CHS emergency department, assessed Sykes. (Tr. 173, 247.) Lafayette took Sykes's vital signs and questioned him about his presenting complaint. Sykes told Lafayette that his chest was "sore" and that the soreness started the previous day. (Tr. 174.) Lafayette asked if Sykes felt pressure in his chest, whether the "soreness" was sharp or dull in nature, and whether he was experiencing radiating pain. Sykes responded that his chest was "just sore." (Tr. 163, 169.) Lafayette observed that Sykes was

not in acute distress, was not short of breath, and was not sweating. Sykes stated that he was not having trouble breathing. Lafayette asked Sykes if he was having any other symptoms, and Sykes said that he was not; he did not tell Lafayette of any history of nausea or vomiting, shortness of breath, or lightheadedness. (Tr. 163, 169, 173-78; Exhibit 1 p. 131.) Lafayette reported information gathered to the emergency department nursing staff. (Tr. 176.)

Joan Marshall, R.N., one of the nurses on duty in the emergency department, initially received information concerning Mr. Sykes's complaint of "heart racing." That symptom did not put Sykes in the "emergency" category for assessment and treatment, particularly since his vital signs did not reveal a fast heart rate. (Tr. 221, 229, 238-39.) Nurse Marshall later became aware of Sykes's complaint of "chest soreness." She then asked Lafayette to question Sykes further as to whether he was complaining of chest pain indicative of potential problems, and was told that he was not. (Tr. 248.) She did not interpret the complaint of chest "soreness" as indicative of an acute heart condition and a consequent need for immediate evaluation and treatment; "soreness" is not one descriptors listed in the applicable protocols as indicative of (Tr. 317.) Because Sykes did not a possible heart attack. complain of chest pain and either did not display, expressly

denied, or did not report other symptoms which, when occurring in conjunction with chest pain, are indicators of a potential heart attack, such as profuse sweating, nausea, shortness of breath, and lightheadedness, Nurse Marshall considered Sykes as a non-urgent patient. (Tr. 240-41.) Nurse Marshall personally observed Mr. Sykes in the waiting area and noted that he appeared to be in no acute distress. (Tr. 248.) She continued to care for other acutely ill patients in the emergency department who appeared to be in more need of acute treatment than Sykes.

Debbie Stroup Russell, R.N. arrived at the CHS emergency department around 6:00 p.m. for her 7:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. shift. She found Nurse Marshall and the other medical personnel attending to the four critical patients. Some time thereafter, Nurse Russell reevaluated the waiting patients at the request of Nurse Marshall. (Tr. 327-29.) Sykes told Nurse Russell that he was experiencing "some chest soreness" but denied any active chest pain, shortness of breath, tightness in his arm, pressure, or any squeezing sensation in the chest. Nurse Russell observed that Sykes was in no acute distress and was interacting and laughing with others in the waiting area. He was not short of breath or sweating. (Tr. 331-32.) He did not report having nausea and vomiting. (Tr. 353.) Nurse Russell then attended to another patient who asked for immediate treatment and was

864708

complaining of fever and severe pain. (Tr. 332.) After treating that patient, Nurse Russell again asked if any of the remaining patients needed immediate attention. Sykes, who still appeared to be in no distress, said nothing in response. (Tr. 333.)

At approximately 6:55 p.m., Sykes suddenly became unresponsive. Cardiac monitoring revealed that Sykes's heart was in ventricular fibrillation. The physician and nurses attempted to resuscitate Sykes through chest compressions, medications, and electronic defibrillation. The efforts were unsuccessful, and Sykes was pronounced dead at 7:32 p.m. (Tr. 333-34, 337.)

An autopsy revealed that Sykes had severe cardiomegaly, or enlargement of the heart, which can cause a fatal ventricular fibrillation in the absence of a heart attack. (Tr. 307-08; Exhibit 1 p. 28.) There was no autopsy evidence of any blockage of a coronary artery, scarring or death of heart muscle or other evidence that Sykes had suffered a heart attack or true myocardial infarction. (Tr. 306-07; Exhibit 1 p. 28.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The factual finding of the trial court that CHS personnel were not negligent was supported by substantial evidence. presented the testimony of two medical experts, each of whom stated the opinion that the treatment provided to Sykes satisfied the applicable standard of care. According to the precedents of this Court, such competent expert testimony constitutes sufficient evidence and certainly more than scintilla of evidence to support the trial court's findings. The trial court, as trier of fact, is the sole judge of the credibility and weight of expert testimony, and it is not proper for the appellate court to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court in that regard. Campbell offered no authority to support her contention that the trial court's findings were not supported by substantial evidence, and thus, cannot prevail on that argument.

The trial court's finding that Sykes's presentation was atypical of a heart problem and did not give rise to a duty to institute immediate testing and treatment was not manifestly wrong. CHS's experts and Campbell's experts agreed that the presentation was atypical. Campbell's argument that typical cardiac symptoms were likely present but were not recognized by CHS personnel because of inadequate screening is based on

speculation and is refuted by the fact that observations made and questions asked by CHS personnel would have revealed the presence of such typical symptoms if they had been present and if Sykes had responded candidly.

There was substantial evidence to support the trial court's rejection of Campbell's theory that the mere complaint of chest soreness was sufficient to require CHS personnel to commence immediate monitoring and treatment. This theory was refuted by CHS's expert witnesses and was based on a strained and unreasonable interpretation of the guidelines relied on by Campbell's expert witnesses.

The trial court did not err in considering the available staffing resources of CHS at the time of Sykes's presentation in determining whether the care of Sykes met the applicable standard of care. It is well-established that the standard of care has a resources-based component. CHS offered expert testimony that it was reasonable for the registered nurse not to abandon the care of critical patients to personally interview and observe Sykes in light of his complaints that were not typical symptoms of a heart problem. Therefore, there was substantial evidence to support the trial court's conclusion.

There was substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding that the alleged negligence of CHS personnel was not a proximate cause of Sykes's death. Contrary to Campbell's

864708

argument, the trial court did not overlook the contention that prompt monitoring of Sykes would have prevented the fatal arrhythmia. There was substantial evidence — the testimony of CHS's expert witnesses — that putting Sykes on a monitor shortly after his presentation probably would not have made a difference in the outcome because Sykes probably was not having a heart attack upon presentation, and it was not probable that an EKG would have given advance warning of the fatal arrhythmia in the absence of a heart attack, and thus, an EKG would not have resulted in any medical intervention that would have prevented the fatal arrhythmia from occurring.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S FACTUAL FINDING THAT CHS DID NOT BREACH THE APPLICABLE STANDARD OF CARE WAS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

The standard of review of the trial court's findings of fact by this Court is very deferential. Thompson v. Lee County School District, 925 So. 2d 57, 62 (Miss. 2006) (court "must give great deference to the trial judge's findings"); City of Jackson v. Lipsey, 834 So. 2d 687, 691 (¶ 14) (Miss. 2003) (same). The appellate court must accept the findings of fact if they are supported by substantial evidence in the record. City of Jackson v. Perry, 764 So. 2d 373, 379 ¶ 29 (Miss. 2000); Yarbrough v. Camphor, 645 So. 2d 867, 869 (Miss. 1994). In determining whether the findings are supported by substantial

evidence, the appellate court must examine all the evidence in the light most favorable to the judgment and must accept as true the evidence and reasonable inferences that support or tend to support the trial court's findings of fact. May v. Harrison County Dept. of Human Services, 883 So. 2d 74, 77 (Miss. 2004); Perry, 764 So. 2d at 379; Ezell v. Williams, 724 So. 2d 396, 397 (Miss. 1998). The appellate court must disregard any evidence to the contrary. Quitman County v. State of Mississippi, 910 (Miss. 2d 1032, 1045 2005); Mississippi Department of Transportation v. Cargile, 847 So. 2d 258, 263 (Miss. 2003); Coleman v. Triplett, 725 So. 2d 217, 219 (Miss. 1998); Cotton v. McConnell, 435 So. 2d 683, 686 (Miss. 1983). The trial court's legal conclusions are reviewed de novo, but are unchallenged by Campbell's appeal. City of Jackson v. Internal Engine Parts Group, Inc., 903 So. 2d 60, 63 ¶ 7 (Miss. 2005).

The trial court found, as a matter of fact, that CHS personnel were not negligent in the care of Sykes. (R. Vol. II, p. 257.) That finding is supported by substantial evidence. CHS presented two expert witnesses: Dr. William Calhoun, a board-certified cardiologist who is also board-certified in internal medicine, and Dr. Frederick Carlton, a board-certified emergency medicine physician and professor emeritus at the University of Mississippi School of Medicine. (Tr. 291-92, 355-56.) Both Dr. Calhoun and Dr. Carlton stated opinions to a

reasonable degree of medical probability that CHS personnel did not deviate from the applicable standard of care, and thus, were not negligent in the salient care and treatment of Sykes. (Tr. 301-02, 360-61.)

"Substantial evidence" is "such relevant evidence reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support conclusion" or, more simply put, "more than a 'mere scintilla' of evidence." Hall v. City of Ridgeland, 37 So. 3d 25, 36 ¶ 33 (Miss. 2010) (quoting Hooks v. George County, 748 So. 2d 678, 680 10 (Miss. 1999). The testimony of two board certified physicians unquestionably constitutes substantial evidence that CHS personnel did not breach the applicable standard of care; the testimony plainly is more than a scintilla of evidence and would be accepted by reasonable minds as adequate to support that finding. See Hardaway Company v. Bradley, 887 So. 2d 793, ¶ 14 (Miss. 2004) (court stated that "with the testimony of two physicians . . . the Commission's decision was supported by more than a scintilla of evidence.")

Campbell touts the testimony of her two expert witnesses opining that CHS personnel violated the standard of care. However, as noted above, any testimony of the plaintiff's expert witnesses that does not tend to support the defendant's case (and the trial court's corresponding factual findings and judgment) must be disregarded by this Court. Quitman County v.

864708

State of Mississippi, 910 So. 2d 1032, 1045 (Miss. 2005); Mississippi Department of Transportation v. Cargile, 847 So. 2d 258, 263 (Miss. 2003). Where there are conflicting opinions by medical experts, the appellate court will not second-quess the trier of fact as to the preponderance of the evidence. Hardaway Company v. Bradley, 887 So. 2d 793, 796 (Miss. 2004); Oswalt v. Abernathy & Clark, 625 So. 2d 770, 772 (Miss. 1993); Levy v. Mississippi Uniforms, 909 So. 2d 1260, 1265 (Miss. App. 2005). In other words, "the trial court, sitting as the trier of fact, is the sole judge of the credibility of all witnesses, including experts." University of Mississippi Medical Center v. Johnson, 977 So. 2d 1145, 1152 ¶ 21 (Miss. App. 2007); accord, Bryan v. Holzer, 589 So. 2d 648, 659 (Miss. 1991). Thus, it is for the trial court alone to assess the credibility and persuasiveness of the expert witnesses and to decide what weight to give to conflicting opinions. Mississippi State Hospital v. Wood, 823 So. 2d 598, 601 (Miss. App. 2002). Consequently, "a trial court commits no error in finding one expert more persuasive than another." Johnson, 977 So. 2d at 1152 ¶ 21.

"Unless the testimony is so incredible as to be absolutely unworthy of belief, [the appellate court] will not re-weigh the evidence." Johnson, 977 So. 2d at 1152 ¶ 21. Campbell's brief offers nothing from which it could plausibly be argued that the opinions of Dr. Calhoun and Dr. Carlton are "so incredible as to

be absolutely unworthy of belief." Like the appellant in Wood, Campbell, "other than arguing for the credibility and persuasive power of [her] own witnesses, points to nothing of note in the record that would suggest that the trial court was manifestly in error in its decision to accept the view of [Dr. Calhoun and Dr. Carlton]." Wood, 823 So. 2d at 601 ¶ 8. Thus, there is no basis upon which this Court could properly reject the trial court's findings of fact.

Although Campbell argues, in effect, that the testimony of Dr. Carlton and Dr. Calhoun is not substantial evidence, she cites absolutely no case authority in which similar testimony was held not to constitute substantial evidence and to be insufficient to support a trial court's findings of fact. omission alone causes Campbell's argument to fail. In City of Jackson v. Internal Engine Parts Group, Inc., 903 So. 2d 60 (Miss. 2005), as in this case, the appellant argued that the findings of the trial court were contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Also as here, the appellant in Internal Engine Parts Group cited no authority for that proposition. This Court held that because the defendant failed to cite supporting legal authority, the argument was procedurally Id. at 66 ¶ 18. Consequently, because Campbell cited no cases holding that similar evidence was insufficient to support a trial court's judgment, she has forfeited her argument

that there was no substantial evidence to support the trial court's findings in the instant case.

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